
                             STATE OF FLORIDA
                    DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS

HORACE J. PETERSON,                )
                                   )
              Petitioner,          )
                                   )
vs.                                )    CASE NO. 91-6062
                                   )
HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY,               )
                                   )
              Respondent.          )
___________________________________)

                           RECOMMENDED ORDER

     On March 13, 1992, a formal administrative hearing was held in this case in
Tampa, Florida, before J. Lawrence Johnston, Hearing Officer, Division of
Administrative Hearings.

                             APPEARANCES

     For Petitioner:  Horace J. Peterson, pro se

     For Respondent:  Catherine P. Teti, Esquire
                      Assistant County Attorney
                      Hillsborough County
                      Post Office Box 1110
                      Tampa, Florida  33601

                         STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

     The issue in this case is whether the Petition for Relief, charging the
Respondent with race discrimination and retaliation, should be granted.

                         PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

     The record in this case reveals that the Petitioner, Horace J. Peterson,
filed with the Florida Commission on Human Relations (FCHR) a Charge of
Discrimination against the Respondent, Hillsborough County, on January 19, 1990.
Although not the model of clarity, the Charge of Discrimination appeared to
allege race discrimination and retaliation.  It was assigned FCHR No. 90-3143.

     The Charge of Discrimination was investigated, and on or about August 7,
1991, 1/  the FCHR issued a Notice of Determination: No Cause, i.e., a
determination was made that there was no reasonable cause to believe that
unlawful discrimination had occurred.

     The Petitioner then filed with the FCHR a Petition for Relief on September
3, 1991.  Also not a model of clarity, the Petition for Relief also appeared to
allege race discrimination and retaliation (among other things). 2/  On or about
September 24, 1991, the FCHR forwarded the Petition for Relief to the Division
of Administrative Hearings for formal administrative proceedings under Section
120.57(1), Fla. Stat. (1991).  Final hearing initially was scheduled for



December 20, 1991, but the Petitioner moved for a continuance, and final hearing
was rescheduled for March 13, 1992.

     At the final hearing, the Petitioner testified in his own behalf and called
one adverse party witness.  The Petitioner also had Petitioner's Exhibits 1
through 7 admitted in evidence.  The Respondent called the Petitioner as an
adverse party witness, as well as three other witnesses, and had Respondent's
Exhibits 1 through 7 admitted in evidence.

     At the conclusion of the hearing, the Respondent ordered the preparation of
a transcript of the final hearing.  Proposed recommended orders were required to
be filed within ten days after the filing of the transcript.  The transcript was
filed on April 6, 1992, making proposed recommended orders due April 16, 1992.

     The Petitioner did not file any proposed findings of fact.  The
Respondent's proposed findings of fact are accepted and incorporated in the
Findings of Fact to the extent not subordinate or unnecessary.

                          FINDINGS OF FACT

     1.  At all relevant times, the Petitioner, Horace J. Peterson, was employed
by Hillsborough County in the Road and Street Maintenance Department.

     2.  In December, 1987, the Petitioner was subpoenaed by a fellow employee,
an Hispanic named Clemente Quintana, to give testimony in Quintana's civil
service hearing on discipline being taken against Quintana for alleged racial
slurs against black employees.  The Petitioner, who is black, essentially
testified that he personally never heard Quintana utter racial slurs.  Although
the Petitioner apparently subjectively feared that the County, particularly
those responsible for the discipline being imposed against Quintana, would
retaliate against him for giving his testimony, there was no objective basis for
fearing that the County would retaliate against him for responding to a subpoena
and testifying as he did.

     3.  The Petitioner also subjectively believes that, since the Quintana
hearing, the County discriminated against him, and gave others preferential
treatment, in retaliation against the Petitioner for his testimony at the
Quintana hearing. 3/  But, objectively, the evidence does not substantiate the
Petitioner's beliefs.  Nor would the evidence support a contention that the
alleged discrimination was race-based.

     4.  In July, 1989, the Petitioner became embroiled in an argument with a
fellow employee.  Although himself a crew leader at the time, the Petitioner was
working on the crew of a fellow crew leader, a black female named Sawyer.  The
crew's task on the morning in question was to mow medians.  Sawyer left the crew
to return to the yard to replace a piece of equipment that was not working
properly.  When she returned shortly after the lunch break, she found the
Petitioner sitting inside a truck.  Sawyer asked what the Petitioner was doing
inside the truck when he was supposed to be working.  The Petitioner said he was
"overheated" and was cooling himself off, as was allowed.  Sawyer pointed out
that lunch break had just ended and took the position that the Petitioner should
not have been overheated again already.  The Petitioner reacted and said things
in anger that were not appropriate to say to a crew leader.  According to the
Petitioner, Sawyer accused him of doing something other than working, namely
selling County asphalt for personal gain, and ordered him to get back to work.
Sawyer felt that the Petitioner accused Sawyer of "selling ass" to get her job
as crew leader.  Sawyer then called a supervisor to the scene.  The supervisor,



who also was black, tried to calm the two down and understand what had happened.
Eventually, he told the Petitioner to either get back to work or return to the
yard with him, sign out and go home.  The Petitioner finally agreed to go back
to work.

     5.  In accordance with standard County personnel procedures, the supervisor
Sawyer called to the scene recommended to the Petitioner's immediate supervisor,
who also was black, that the Petitioner be disciplined for insubordination and
for being disrespectful to a crew leader in front of the crew and in public.
The Petitioner's immediate supervisor agreed with the recommendation and, again
in accordance with standard County personnel procedures, initiated discipline
procedures.  The Petitioner asked for and was given a predisciplinary hearing.
After the hearing, the charges against the Petitioner were upheld, and the
Petitioner was given a writted reprimand.

     6.  On August 4, 1989, the Petitioner hurt his back stepping up into a
truck.  He received medical treatment and was placed on worker's compensation
until October 30, 1989, when he was returned to light duty work on doctor's
orders that he not be required to lift over 35 pounds.

     7.  When the Petitioner returned to work, he could not perform his normal
duties, which required lifting up to approximately 90 pounds.  Instead, he was
assigned to duties such as flagging and acting as crew leader on shoulder
washout repair crews, and also sometimes mopping and sweeping, depending on what
work was available.  Despite the Petitioner's complaints that these jobs did not
constitute "light duty," it is undisputed that they did not require lifting
greater than 35 pounds.  Since they met the doctor's restrictions, they
qualified as "light duty" under the County's personnel policies.

     8.  The Petitioner complains that he was discriminated against in that
others were given lighter duty that was not made available to him.  For example,
he pointed out that, at various times, others were given work in the office that
was not made available to him.

     9.  The County demonstrated that some of the employees who did office work
were supervisors who were training in office work and procedures in the event
they were required to fill in for the regular office staff.  One of the
employees the Petitioner referred to was particularly good at doing office work
and was chosen to fill in when staff was short.  There was no evidence that the
Petitioner had any particular adeptness for the work. Besides, during the time
when the Petitioner was on light duty restrictions, there was no need for extra
office help.

     10.  Of the three employees who the Petitioner said were given preferential
office work, two were black.  (The other was a white female.)

     11.  The Petitioner claims that he reinjured his back on December 13, 1989,
while shoveling on a road shoulder washout job.  On much of the Petitioner's
road shoulder washout work after October 30, 1989, the Petitioner was the crew
leader and was expected to drive the truck and supervise, not shovel fill
material.  On December 13, 1989, he was working under another crew leader's
supervision but was supposed to have been flagging traffic, not shoveling.

     12.  After receiving medical attention, the Petitioner returned to work
with an updated light duty restriction that was identical to the previous
doctor's orders.  On or about January 4, 1990, the Petitioner was assigned to a
road shoulder washout crew to flag traffic.  He refused to report to work.



Later, after further medical attention, the Petitioner again was placed on
worker's compensation.  On or about February 5, 1990, for the first time, the
Petitioner received doctor's orders that also restricted him from duties
requiring squatting, bending and twisting.  However, he never returned to work
to perform services for the County after January 4, 1990. 4/

                      CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

     13.  Section 760.10(1), Fla. Stat. (1989), makes it illegal to discharge or
otherwise to discriminate against an individual with respect to compensation,
terms, conditions, or privileges of employment because of the individual's race
(among other things).

     14.  In addition, Section 760.10(7), Fla. Stat. (1991), makes it unlawful
for an employer to "discriminate against any person because that person has
opposed any practice which is an unlawful employment practice under this
section, or because that person has made a charge, testified, assisted, or
participated in any manner in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing under
this section."

     15.  Section 760.10(10)-(14), Fla. Stat. (1991), sets out an administrative
remedy for violations.  Section 760.10(10) provides:  "Any person aggrieved by a
violation of this section may file a complaint with the commission within 180
days of the alleged violation, naming the employer, employment agency, labor
organization, or joint labor-management committee, or, in the case of an alleged
violation of subsection (5), the person, responsible for the violation and
describing the violation."

     16.  In this case, the Petitioner's case included evidence of events that
preceded June 19, 1989.  While events that preceded June 19, 1989, may be
admissible evidence, no incidents that preceded June 19, 1989, properly can form
the basis for relief in this proceeding.

     17.  As for the charge of retaliation under Section 760.10(7), the evidence
is that the Petitioner, who is black, testified in a civil service hearing in
defense of an Hispanic County employee, whom the County had accused of making
racist slurs.  This is not the kind of proceeding, testimony or participation
referred to in Section 760.10(7).  Even if it were, the Petitioner did not prove
that the County retaliated against the Petitioner for his testimony.

     18.  As for the charge of racial discrimination under Section 760.10(1),
the Petitioner's evidence fell far short of proving the charge.  The
Petitioner's evidence seemed designed to prove that others were given
preferential treatment but betrayed a fundamental lack of comprehension that,
under the statute, the Petitioner had to prove not only preferential treatment
but also a race basis for it.  Cf. Dept. of Corrections v. Chandler, 582 So. 2d
1183 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (the evidence suggested that the petitioner may have
been passed over for a promotion because of the personal friendship of one of
his competitors for the position with an influential member of the interview
team, not because of racial discrimination).  Clearly, his evidence made no such
connection. 5/  Consequently, the Petitioner did not even make out a prima facie
case of unlawful discrimination.  Cf.  McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411
U.S. 792, 93 S.Ct. 1817, 36 L.Ed.2d 668 (1973)(prima facie showing of racial
discrimination requires evidence of disparate treatment on the basis of race);
Green v. Armstrong Rubber Co., 612 F.2d 967 (5th Cir. 1980), cert. den., 449
U.S. 879 (1980)(same); Jackson v. U.S. Steel Corp., 624 F.2d 436, 440-441 (3d
Cir. 1980)(same). 6/



     19.  Assuming that there had been evidence of disparate treatment on the
basis of race, the Respondent produced evidence that it had legitimate,
nondiscriminatory reasons for its treatment of the Petitioner.  This would have
returned the burden to the Petitioner to prove that the Respondent's alleged
legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons were mere pretexts and that an illegal,
discriminatory reason more likely motivated the Respondent.  Texas Dept. of
Community Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248, 101 S.Ct. 1089, 67 L.Ed.2d 207
(1981).  As reflected in the Findings of Fact, the Petitioner's evidence fell
far short of this burden of proof.

                           RECOMMENDATION

     Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, it is
recommended that the Florida Commission on Human Relations enter a final order
dismissing the Petition for Relief filed in this case.

     RECOMMENDED this 21st day of April, 1992, in Tallahassee, Florida.

                              ___________________________________
                              J. LAWRENCE JOHNSTON
                              Hearing Officer
                              Division of Administrative Hearings
                              The DeSoto Building
                              1230 Apalachee Parkway
                              Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1550
                              (904)  488-9675

                              Filed with the Clerk of the
                              Division of Administrative
                              Hearings this 21st day of
                              April, 1992.

                               ENDNOTES

1/  The record does not indicate why it took so long to investigate the Charge
of Discrimination.

2/  Part of what the Petitioner alleged in his Petition for Relief does not come
under the jurisdiction of the Florida Commission on Human Relations as set forth
in Chapter 760, Fla. Stat. (1991).  E.g., he alleged that the Respondent
violated Section 448.045, Fla. Stat. (1991).  That part of the Petition is
stricken.

3/  Although evidence on events that preceded June 19, 1989, was received as
having possible relevance to the charges, no incident preceding that date can
form that basis of a violation of Section 760.10, Fla. Stat. (1991).  See
Conclusions of Law 3-4, below.  Accordingly, it is not necessary to address
events preceding that date in these Findings of Fact.  However, it is noted that
none of the evidence would support a contention that the County ever
discriminated against the Petitioner on the basis of race and that, accordingly,
the Respondent's Proposed Findings of Fact have been accepted.

4/  The evidence suggests that the Petitioner's worker's compensation benefits
eventually were terminated upon evidence that the Petitioner was faking the



extent of his back injury.  No issue was raised, and no evidence was introduced,
as to the circumstances surrounding the Petitioner's termination from employment
with the County.

5/  Actually, the Petitioner did not even prove preferential treatment, much
less racial discrimination.  Accordingly, the Respondent's Proposed Findings of
Fact have been accepted.

6/  Because Florida's Human Rights Act of 1964 is patterned after Title VII of
the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. 2000e-2, Florida courts have looked to
interpretive federal case law for guidance in determining whether an unlawful
employment practice has occurred.  School Bd. of Leon County v. Hargis, 400 So.
2d 103, 108 & n.2 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981).
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                NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS

ALL PARTIES HAVE THE RIGHT TO SUBMIT TO THE FLORIDA COMMISSION ON HUMAN
RELATIONS WRITTEN EXCEPTIONS TO THIS RECOMMENDED ORDER.  ALL AGENCIES ALLOW EACH
PARTY AT LEAST TEN DAYS IN WHICH TO SUBMIT WRITTEN EXCEPTIONS.  SOME AGENCIES
ALLOW A LARGER PERIOD WITHIN WHICH TO SUBMIT WRITTEN EXCEPTIONS.  YOU SHOULD
CONSULT WITH THE FLORIDA COMMISSION ON HUMAN RELATIONS CONCERNING ITS RULES ON
THE DEADLINE FOR FILING EXCEPTIONS TO THIS RECOMMENDED ORDER.


